
Resources Directorate
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
AssistantAssistant  DirectorDirector  (Legal,(Legal,  GovernanceGovernance  &&  
Workforce)Workforce)

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk

To:  All Members of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board

Enquiries to: Alison James
Telephone: 01706 974711
Date: 19th September 2016

Dear Councillor

Health and Wellbeing Board

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board to be held in 
Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Tuesday 27th September 2016 commencing at 2.00 pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. 

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of Interest 
which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the Code of Conduct or 
contact the Monitoring Officer or staff in the Governance and Committee Services Team 
at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce)

Health and Wellbeing Board Membership 2016/17
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed
Rob Bellingham
Councillor Ashley Dearnley
Sheila Downey
Dr Chris Duffy
Councillor Janet Emsley
Andrea Fallon
Gail Hopper
Dr Musharraf Hussain
Jane Jackson
Councillor Donna Martin E
Steve Rumbelow
Chief Superintendent Chris Sykes
Michelle Warburton
Simon Wootton

Public Document Pack



Rochdale Borough Council

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Tuesday 27th September 2016 at 2.00 pm

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, Smith 
Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

A G E N D A
Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 3

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.  

Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting.

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct.

2.  Minutes - Health and Wellbeing Board 4 - 5

To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board held on 26th July 2016.

3.  Minutes -  Shadow Integrated Commissioning Board 6 - 10

To note the Minutes of the meetings of the Shadow Integrated 
Commissioning Board held on 14th June 2016, 12th July 2016 and 9th 
August 2016.

4.  Presentations 

(a)   Kooth Online Counselling and Support for Young People - (Stephanie 
Lord, Integration and Participation Worker, Xenzone)

(b)   Strength to Change Project -  (Kathy Thomas, Chief Executive, 
Rochdale Connections Trust)

(c)   Healthy Rochdale Homes - (Darryl Lawrence, Strategic Housing 
Services, Rochdale Borough Council)

5.  Rochdale Suicide and Self Harm Prevention Strategy 11 - 32

6.  Placed Based Integrated Working Phase 2 - Verbal Update 

7.  Locality Plan - Verbal Update 

8.  Board Development - Verbal Update 





P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.

Page 3



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday 26th July 2016

PRESENT:  Councillor Emsley (Chair); Councillors Iftikhar Ahmed, Dearnley, 
Downey, Hopper, Jackson and Wootton (Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale Clinical 
Commissioning Group) and J. Jackson (Healthwatch)

OFFICERS:  A. James (Rochdale Borough Council)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Dr S. Mahboob (Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale 
Clinical Commissioning Group)

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: R. Bellingham (NHS England), Dr C. Duffy 
(Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group), A. Fallon and 
Councillor Martin (Rochdale Borough Council)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
7 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
8 DECIDED – that the minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board held on 7th June 2016 be approved as a correct record.

PRESENTATION - ROCHDALE CONNECTIONS TRUST - STRENGTH TO 
CHANGE PROGRAMME
9 DECIDED – that this item be deferred.

LONG TERM CONDITIONS TEST BED PROGRAMME
10 The Board received a presentation from Dr Shaaz Mahboob relating to the 
progress of the Long Term Conditions Programme – Test Bed Programme.

The presentation provided details of:-
 The anticipated impact of the programme – including improving recognition, 

reducing the incidence and delaying the progression of long term conditions;
 The collaborative arrangements for delivering the programme;
 How the programme would drive prevention, early diagnosis and reduce 

unplanned admissions, through the use of clinical data and algorithms to 
target specific cohorts of patient ;

 The evaluation and validation process that would be undertaken at each 
stage of the programme.

In terms of future milestones, the data processing and collaboration agreement was 
in progress, a launch event would be held in September 2016 and the first algorithms 
were planned for February/March 2017.

Board Members considered the presentation in detail and had an opportunity to ask 
questions of Dr Mahboob.

DECIDED – that the presentation on the Long Term Conditions Test Bed 
Programme be noted.

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



HEALTH PROTECTION
11 The Board received an update from the Consultant in Public Health, 
Bernadine O’Sullivan, on the future arrangements for health protection/infection 
prevention and control.

Rochdale Borough Council has a statutory duty to provide a health protection and 
infection prevention and control service/function as part of the overall duty to protect 
population health under the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Regulation 8 of the 2012 Act imposes a duty on local authorities to provide 
information and advice to certain persons and bodies within their area in order to 
promote the preparation of, or participation in, health protection arrangements 
against threats to the health of the local population, including infectious disease, 
environmental hazards and extreme weather events. These public health 
responsibilities sit directly with the local Director of Public Health.

The local Director of Public health discharges the duties for Rochdale Borough 
Council through the public health specialist function and in some instances may wish 
to commission specialist expertise and resources.

Following the departure of the two RBC public health infection prevention and control 
nurses who have returned to NHS employment and the recent Public Health 
restructure new arrangements for local health protection and infection control issues 
have been established. The new service was due to commence in late August 2016. 

The Board noted that this was the last meeting that Bernadine O’Sullivan would be 
attending prior to leaving the Council and they thanked her for her contribution to the 
work of the Board.

DECIDED – that the update on health protection be noted.

LOCALITY PLAN - VERBAL UPDATE
12 The Director of Adult Care Services, Sheila Downey provided an update on 
the progress and development of the Locality Plant. It was anticipated that final 
submission of the Plan would be in September and an early meeting of the Board 
may be required to approve the Plan.

DECIDED – that update on the Locality Plan be noted. 

Page 5



SHADOW INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 14 June 2016

PRESENT: HMR CCG - Dr Chris Duffy (Clinical Chair) (in the Chair); Dr Bodrul Alam 
(Clinical Lead), Sam Evans (Chief Finance Officer), Dr Lynn Hampson (Clinical 
Lead), Simon Wootton (Chief Officer); RBC  – Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed (Portfolio 
Holder for Adult Services), Sheila Downey (Director of Adult Care), Councillor Janet 
Emsley (Portfolio Holder for Culture, Health and Wellbeing), Pauline Kane (Director 
of Resources).

OFFICERS: Steve Rumbelow (RBC Chief Executive), Mark Hardman (RBC 
Resources Directorate).

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: HMR CCG - Ian Mello (Director of Commissioning 
and Provider Management); RBC - Andrea Fallon (Director of Public Health and 
Wellbeing), Gail Hopper (Director of Children’s Services) and Councillor Donna 
Martin (Portfolio Holder for Children's Services)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
1 There were no declarations of interest.

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR FOR THE 2016/17 MUNICIPAL YEAR
2 DECIDED – That Dr Chris Duffy be appointed Chair of the Shadow 
Integrated Commissioning Board for the 2016/17 Municipal Year.

APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR FOR THE 2016/17 MUNICIPAL YEAR
3 DECIDED – That Councillor Janet Emsley be appointed Vice-Chair of the 
Shadow Integrated Commissioning Board for the 2016/17 Municipal Year.

MINUTES
4 DECIDED – That the minutes of the Shadow Integrated Commissioning 
Board held on 10th May 2016 be approved as a correct record.

UPDATED SECTION 75 AGREEMENT FOR 2016/17
5 The Director of Resources (RBC) submitted recommended updates to the 
2015/16 Section 75 Agreement for the Better Care Fund (BCF) pooled budget which 
reflected the 2016/17 budget agreed at the meeting of the Board held on 10th May 
2016, including the removal of performance payments.  A number of minor and 
typographical amendments required were noted.

The recommendation was presented consequent to the agreed 2016/17 BCF budget.  
In order to be able to carry out the joint service provision in the pooled budget, the 
partners require a Section 75 agreement to be in place and submitted to NHS 
England by the end of June 2016. 

Alternatives considered:  None, as there was a requirement for an Agreement to be 
in place.
DECIDED – That (1) the amendments to the 2015/16 Section 75 Agreement to 
reflect the requirements of the pooled budget for 2016/17 be agreed, and the 
2016/17 Agreement be approved;

(2) the Director of Resources be authorised to make minor and 
typographical amendments prior to submission;

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



(3) the Health and Wellbeing Board note the submitted report and 
decisions of the Board.
Eligible for call-in: Yes

Page 7



SHADOW INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 12 July 2016

PRESENT: HMR CCG - Dr Chris Duffy (Clinical Chair) (in the Chair); Dr Bodrul Alam 
(Clinical Lead), Sam Evans (Chief Finance Officer), Dr Lynn Hampson (Clinical 
Lead), Ian Mello (Director of Commissioning and Provider Management); RBC  – 
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed (Portfolio Holder for Adult Services), Councillor Janet 
Emsley (Portfolio Holder for Culture, Health and Wellbeing), Andrea Fallon (Director 
of Public Health and Wellbeing), Pauline Kane (Director of Resources), Councillor 
Donna Martin (Portfolio Holder for Children's Services).

OFFICERS: RBC - Mark Hardman, Margo Kane and Julie Murphy (RBC Resources 
Directorate), Dianne David (Adult Care Directorate), Karen Kenton (Children’s 
services directorate); HMR CCG – A. Fry (Finance Directorate).

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: HMR CCG - Simon Wootton (Chief Officer); RBC - 
Sheila Downey (Director of Adult Care), Gail Hopper (Director of Children’s Services). 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
6 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
7 DECIDED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Shadow Integrated 
Commissioning Board held on 14th June 2016 be approved as a correct record.

BETTER CARE FUND - 2016/17 PERIOD 2 MONITORING REPORT
8 The Director of Resources (RBC) provided an update on the projected 
position of the Better Care Fund (BCF) for the financial year 2016/17 as at May 
period end.

The recommendation was presented as regular monitoring of the BCF budget is a 
requirement of the Section 75 agreement agreed by the ICB in June 2016.  The 
monitoring would form the basis of the financial information to be submitted to NHS 
England as part of the regulatory returns required.

Alternatives considered – None, as it is a requirement of NHS England guidance and 
the Section 75 agreement to produce a budget for 2016/17 and to subsequently 
monitor that budget.

DECIDED – That (1) the latest projected position for the Better Care Fund (BCF) 
in 2016/17 and the need to realign BCF income to support Social Care services 
be noted;

(2) the carry forward of capital funding into 2016/17, as agreed by this 
Board and by the Council Cabinet, in line with the terms of the Section 75 
agreement, be noted.
Eligible for call-in: No, information item

Page 8



SHADOW INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 9 August 2016

PRESENT: HMR CCG - Dr Chris Duffy (Clinical Chair) (in the Chair); Dr Bodrul Alam 
(Clinical Lead), Sam Evans (Chief Finance Officer), Dr Lynn Hampson (Clinical 
Lead); RBC – Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed (Portfolio Holder for Adult Services), Sheila 
Downey (Director of Adult Care), Councillor Janet Emsley (Portfolio Holder for 
Culture, Health and Wellbeing), Andrea Fallon (Director of Public Health and 
Wellbeing), Gail Hopper (Director of Children’s Services), Pauline Kane (Director of 
Resources), Councillor Donna Martin (Portfolio Holder for Children's Services).

OFFICERS: RBC – Steve Rumbelow (Chief Executive), Tony Brown and Mark 
Hardman (RBC Resources Directorate)

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: HMR CCG - Simon Wootton (Chief Officer) and Ian 
Mello (Director of Commissioning and Provider Management)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
9 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
10 DECIDED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Shadow Integrated 
Commissioning Board held on 12th July 2016 be approved as a correct record.

BETTER CARE FUND 2015/16 - AUDIT REPORT
11 The Director of Resources (RBC) advised on the outcome of an RBC Internal 
Audit Report on the Better Care Fund (BCF).  The objective of the audit was to 
provide assurance over the adequacy and effectiveness of the governance, risk 
management and financial management arrangements. The Report had concluded 
that an ‘Adequate’ assurance could be given; issues identified related to risk 
management and actions had been agreed with RBC Adult Care Management to 
make improvements to processes.

The Board noted the undertaking of the audit by RBC Internal Audit as the BCF was 
held in the Council’s account.  In discussion, it was noted that any areas of concern 
could be raised within the follow-up review and that presentation of the future RBC 
Internal Audit review outcomes would be presented in a similar manner to 
submissions to the council’s Audit and Governance Committee.

The Board was further advised that both the Council’s and the Clinical 
Commissioning Group’s external auditors had signed off the respective organisations 
account and annual returns in respect of the BCF 2015/16.

DECIDED – That the report be noted.   
Eligible for call-in: No

BETTER CARE FUND 2016-17 - APPROVAL
12 The Board received confirmation that NHS England had, following the 
regional assurance process, approved the Better Care Fund (BCF) 2016/17 Plan.  
BCF funding could therefore be released, subject to the funding being used in 
accordance with the approved Plan.

Page 9



DECIDED – That the approval of the Better Care Fund 2016/17 Plan by NHS 
England be noted. 
Eligible for call-in: No

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
13 DECIDED – That the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item of business since it is likely that, in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, if 
members of the public were present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, namely information relating to the business or financial 
affairs of any particular person (including the person holding that information).

INTEGRATED COMMUNITY EQUIPMENT STORE
14 The Director of Adult Care (RBC) updated the Board on the current contract 
position and presented options for future commissioning arrangements.  In noting 
further consideration of this issue at a future meeting, the Board indicated considered 
further options for consideration.

DECIDED – That the actions taken around the current contract and the ongoing 
procurement considerations be noted.
Eligible for call-in:  No

Page 10



Title: Rochdale Suicide and Self Harm 
Prevention Strategy 

Public:        For Publication

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board

Cabinet Member: Cllr Janet Emsley

Report Author: Wendy Meston /Rebecca Fletcher

Date: 27th September 2016

Director:     Andrea Fallon

Tel: 01706 927089  

Author Email:    
Rebecca.fletcher@rochdale.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No

1. Purpose of Report
1.1 The updated Rochdale Suicide and Self Harm Prevention Strategy is intended to build 
on the work of the previous strategy, which provided broad and coherent approach to suicide 
prevention that recognises the contributions that can be made across all sectors of our society

1.2 Suicide is a major issue for society and a leading cause of years of life lost. In 
England, one person dies every two hours as a result of suicide. It is important for us to 
recognise that suicide is not inevitable. Many deaths through suicide are preventable, suicide 
is often the end point of a complex pattern of risk factors and distressing events, and the 
prevention of suicide has to address this complexity. 

1.3 The aim of this strategy is to provide a framework to reducing suicides in Rochdale 
borough in line with national evidence and local priorities.  By combining local information and 
the national evidence base, we have identified seven key areas for action to support delivery 
of our local objectives: 

1: Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups including men, people who self-
harm, and those in contact with mental health services. 
2: Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups 
3: Reduce access to the means of suicide 
4: Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide
5: Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal 
behaviour
6: Support research and data collection
7: To promote wellbeing and increase resilience building upon the Five Ways to 
Wellbeing programme 

2. Recommendation
2.1 For the Board to approve the adoption of the updated strategy

3. Reason for recommendation
3.1 Suicide is a key issue locally. Mortality rates from suicide and injury undetermined in 
Rochdale currently stand at 15.4 per 100,000 for males and 9.9 overall (PHE/PHOF 2011-13). 
The rate for females is not published for data disclosure reasons as the number of recorded 
deaths is very low. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Rebecca.fletcher@rochdale.gov.uk


3.2 There are on average 20 deaths each year in Rochdale and small differences in this 
total have a significant effect on the rate. 

3.3 The rate of suicide in Rochdale was particularly low for 2006/2008 and since then the 
rate has increased. This is of concern locally.

4. Alternatives considered
4.1 Not applicable 

5. Financial Implications
5.2 This strategy is a partnership document that sets out ways of working effectively to 
reduce suicides in the borough. The work outlined will be undertaken within existing budgets 
held by partner organisations.

6. Legal Implications
None

7. Other Implications
7.1 The strategy identifies the need for all services to work together to reduce suicides 
locally Corporate Priorities. Suicide prevention is most effective when it is combined as part of 
wider work addressing the social and other determinants of poor health, wellbeing or illness. 
Partnership working and a committed, co-ordinated approach across multiple organisations is 
key to making a difference.

8. Equalities Impacts
8.1 There are no (significant) workforce equality issues or equality/community issues 
arising from this report.

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection
Draft Rochdale Suicide and Self Harm 
Strategy 

Page 12



 

 

FINAL DRAFT Suicide prevention and self-harm strategy: 2016 update 

1. INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................................. 2 

1.1. Definitions ......................................................................................................................................................... 2 

1.2. Strategic aims and objectives ............................................................................................................................ 2 

2. UPDATE FROM THE LAST STRATEGY – KEY ACHIEVEMENTS................................................................................ 4 

2.1. Multi-agency Suicide Prevention Group ........................................................................................................... 4 

2.2. Men’s Campaign ................................................................................................................................................ 4 

2.3. Suicide Prevention Training ............................................................................................................................... 4 

2.4. Street Triage Team and the Crisis Care Concordat............................................................................................ 4 

2.5. Self-Harm Campaign .......................................................................................................................................... 5 

2.6. Local Media and Stigma work ........................................................................................................................... 5 

2.7. Support for those Bereaved by Suicide ............................................................................................................. 5 

2.8. Five Ways to Wellbeing Programme ................................................................................................................. 5 

3. POLICY CONTEXT ................................................................................................................................................ 7 

3.1. Global approach ................................................................................................................................................ 7 

3.2. National Policy Drivers ...................................................................................................................................... 7 

3.2.1. Preventing suicide in England and the second annual update ................................................................. 7 

3.2.2. Chief Medical Officers Report on Public Mental Health ........................................................................... 8 

3.2.3. Samaritans: Men, Suicide and Self-Harm ................................................................................................. 8 

3.2.4. Confidential Enquiry into Mental Health .................................................................................................. 9 

3.2.5. Mental Health Taskforce: The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health .............................................. 9 

3.3. Local Policy Drivers .......................................................................................................................................... 10 

3.3.1. Rochdale Borough Mental Health and Wellbeing Commissioning Strategy 2014-2017 ........................ 10 

3.3.2. Rochdale Health and Wellbeing Strategy ............................................................................................... 10 

4. LOCAL PICTURE .................................................................................................................................................11 

4.1. Gender ............................................................................................................................................................. 11 

4.2. Age .................................................................................................................................................................. 13 

4.3. Ethnicity........................................................................................................................................................... 13 

4.4. Methods .......................................................................................................................................................... 13 

4.5. Social Grade..................................................................................................................................................... 15 

4.6. Deprivation ...................................................................................................................................................... 15 

4.7. Self-harm ......................................................................................................................................................... 16 

5. LOCAL SUICIDE PREVENTION PRIORITIES ...........................................................................................................19 

6. GOVERNANCE ...................................................................................................................................................20 

  

Page 13



 

 

1. Introduction  
Suicide is a major issue for society and a leading cause of years of life lost. In England, one person dies 

every two hours as a result of suicide.  It is important for us to recognise that suicide is not inevitable.  

Many deaths through suicide are preventable, suicide is often the end point of a complex pattern of risk 

factors and distressing events, and the prevention of suicide has to address this complexity.  

This strategy is intended to build on the work of the Rochdale Borough Suicide Prevention Strategy: 2013-

15, which provides broad and coherent approach to suicide prevention that recognises the contributions 

that can be made across all sectors of our society. 

Suicide prevention is most effective when it is combined as part of wider work addressing the social and 

other determinants of poor health, wellbeing or illness. Partnership working and a committed, co-ordinated 

approach across multiple organisations is key to making a difference.   

We know that self-harm is a significant risk factor for suicide as well as being a concern in its own right.  

This strategy will consider self-harm in relation to suicide risk.   

1.1. Definitions  

 Suicide is a death as a result of an intentional self-inflicted act.  Statistics on suicide are usually 

calculated using information provided at death registration.  This includes deaths with a verdict of 

suicide and those with an open verdict as research indicates that a majority of these are likely to be 

suicides.  

 In this strategy, self-harm is defined as non-fatal intentional self-injury or self-poisoning1.  There is 

evidence that self-harm is a risk factor for suicide and many of the actions to reduce self-harm are 

likely to have an impact on suicide.  The Multicentre Study of self-harm found that the risk of 

suicide was 49 times greater in the first year following self-harm than in the general population2.   

1.2. Strategic aims and objectives  

The national strategy Preventing Suicide in England: A cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives 

was launched in 2012.  This strategy was developed by Department of Health in collaboration with other 

government departments and the National Suicide Prevention Strategy Advisory Group.   

In line with the national approach, the aim of this strategy is a reduction in the suicide rate for Heywood, 

Middleton and Rochdale. We also aim to provide better support to those bereaved or affected by suicide or 

suicidal behaviours. 

By combining local information and the national evidence base, we have identified seven key areas for 

action to support delivery of our local objectives:  

1: Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups including men, people who self-harm, and those 

in contact with mental health services.   

2: Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups  

3: Reduce access to the means of suicide  

                                                           
1
 Hawton K, Gunnell D and Kapur N (2014) Chapter 15 Suicide and self-harm in Davies, S.C. “Annual Report of the Chief 

Medical Officer 2013, Public Mental Health Priorities: Investing in the Evidence” London: Department of Health (2014) 
p239 - 250 
2
 Hawton K, Bergen H, Cooper J, Turnbull P, Waters K, Ness J, and Kapur N (2015) Suicide following self-harm: findings 

from the Multicentre Study of self-harm in England, 2000-2012. Journal of Affective Disorders.  175; 147-151 

Page 14



 

 

4: Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide  

5: Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behaviour 

6: Support research and data collection 

7: To promote wellbeing and increase resilience through the Five Ways to Wellbeing programme 

  

Page 15



 

 

2. Update from the last strategy – key achievements  

2.1. Multi-agency Suicide Prevention Group  

Since 2012, Rochdale has had an active Multi-agency Suicide Prevention Group.  This is one of the key 

recommendations from the Department of Health guidance for local leaders to support the national 

strategy.3  The group is chaired by the Chief Executive of Rochdale and District Mind and includes members 

from the local authority, voluntary sector, community and acute health providers and the police.   

2.2. Men’s Campaign 

Rochdale has launched a campaign specifically aimed at men aged 30-49 years.  Kenyon Fraser, a social 

marketing company, developed posters in conjunction with local men through insight work. The company 

worked with local men, and explored issues that might be preventing men seeking support early. The 

posters were placed in various locations e.g. workplaces, night clubs, supermarkets etc.  

The men involved identified that they wanted a 24 hour service with someone to talk to out of office hours. 

The Suicide Prevention Strategy group been worked with the Samaritans branch to support and roll out the 

campaign. The campaign was rolled out in two phases-initial roll out and repeated in year 2. 

2.3. Suicide Prevention Training 

Suicide prevention training aims to equip people with the skills to prevent suicide and to talk about suicide 

in their communities.  In Rochdale, this training is being delivered in the community by Mind.   

 Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training (ASIST) is a two-day workshop that teaches participants 

to carry out life-saving interventions for people at risk of suicide.  

 21 two-day workshops have been delivered to 331 caregivers from a range of organisations across 

Rochdale borough. 

 SuicideTALK is a 90-minute session that helps participants reduce suicide stigma and become more 

aware of suicide prevention opportunities in their communities.  Its goal is to help make direct, 

open and honest talk about suicide easier.  

 7 SuicideTALK sessions have been delivered to 102 participants 

The evaluation feedback from ASIST has been very positive:  

 47% have used ASIST since attending training, some up to 9 times. 

 96% of participants have stated that they now feel more comfortable talking about suicide. 

 92% of those that have used ASIST since their training have done so in their professional/work role  

 50% have done so in their personal role – up to 2 times 

 83% stated that by using ASIST it has helped them prevent suicide. 

2.4. Street Triage Team and the Crisis Care Concordat 

The Street Triage Team is an example of how the Crisis Care Concordat is being made a reality in the 

borough.  The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat is a shared agreement made by over 20 national 

organisations about how we respond to people in mental health crisis.  Included amongst the signatories 

are Department of Health, Mind, Association of Ambulance Chief Executives, Association of Chief Police 

Officers, Local Government Association and ADASS  and, Royal College of Psychiatrists 

                                                           
3
 Department of Health (2011) Prompts for local leaders on suicide prevention  

Page 16



 

 

 The concordat joint statement is:  

“We commit to work together to improve the system of care and support so 

people in crisis because of a mental health condition are kept safe and helped to 

find the support they need – whatever the circumstances in which they first need 

help - and from whichever service they turn to first.” 

The development of the street triage pilot in Rochdale enabled the Borough to meet the overarching 

principle in the crisis care concordat. This is in relation to collaborative working with other agencies in order 

to deliver a high quality response when people in Rochdale with mental health problems urgently need 

help.  

The Street Triage Team works to:  

 Improve capability of police and NWAS to provide first line response in mental health Crisis 

 Provide a multi-disciplinary approach to mental health Crisis presentations, reducing the risk of 

harm to service users and ensuring that they are taken to the appropriate place 

 Working together to improve outcomes and care delivery through a whole system approach 

 Ensuring that service users access the right services at the  right time and have an appropriate care 

plan at the earliest stage in their mental health presentation 

Between November 2014 and April 2015 (inclusive) the Street Triage telephone pilot received a total of 290 

calls.  

2.5. Self-Harm Campaign  

A local self-harm prevention campaign is being developed and implemented which includes a sustainable 

peer led support group. The marketing campaign is to raise awareness of self-harm prevention and signpost 

to appropriate services. Also developing  and training  a peer led support group of young people who will 

champion self-harm prevention services and provide a ‘empathetic’ and understanding ear to those who 

may be suffering with self-harm. 

2.6. Local Media and Stigma work  

There is a Rochdale Media and Stigma group which has been meeting for two years. One of the key 

achievements was an event for Media which was held in 2013. 

The media event was held at the Norton Grange on 26th June.  The event was aimed at targeting journalists 

and communication leads and focussed on how mental health and suicide is reported in the media and the 

impact that has on individuals and communities.  The event included a drama presentation from the 

Newfound Theatre Company and a Question Time panel. 

2.7. Support for those Bereaved by Suicide 

SOBS (Survivors of Bereavement by Suicide) are a national charity providing dedicated support to adults 

who have been bereaved by suicide. The charity has a Manchester area support group with a Rochdale 

group lead. 

The local group have been members of the Suicide Prevention Strategy Group and offer support to those 

bereaved through suicide in Rochdale Borough. 

2.8. Five Ways to Wellbeing Programme  

Page 17



 

 

The current priorities for the Five Ways to Wellbeing Programme locally are:  

 Dissemination and evaluation of phase three of the five ways to wellbeing programme. Phase three 

is centred on older people, their families and carers. The five ways programme involves raising 

awareness amongst older people, their families and carers as well as professionals. Raising 

awareness includes presentations to groups, using promotional leaflets and branding (already 

designed and produced) and evaluating the effectiveness of the five ways in improving wellbeing 

and reducing isolation 

 Pilot project for BME residents to measure the impact of The Five Ways to Wellbeing and usage of 

WEMWBS as a measurement scale. The WEMWBS scale has been validated and translated into 

Urdu and Bangla, work is going on to pilot these with these two groups.  

 Development and delivery of the 5 ways to wellbeing training, including training on using WEMWBS 

as a measurement scale. The training  addresses: 

o An introduction to the five ways 

o The evidence base behind the five ways 

o In depth discussion/ training on each of the five ways and examples on how this can be 

incorporated into everyday life 

o Introduction to the WEMWBS scale, how this can be used, scoring yourself, what the 

results mean, the importance of tracking your wellbeing. 

o The training would be delivered to professionals and businesses, with an interest in 

wellbeing and residents who want to improve their wellbeing.  

o The training would also encourage traffic to the www.rochdale.gov.uk/livewell website as a 

site to gain further information on wellbeing as well measuring and tracking your 

wellbeing.       

 

  

Page 18

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/livewell


 

 

3. Policy Context  

3.1. Global approach 

The World Health Organisation has set a target of reducing suicide in countries by 10% by 2020 and argued 

that:  

Social, psychological, cultural and other factors can interact to lead a person to suicidal 

behaviour, but the stigma attached to mental disorders and suicide means that many people 

feel unable to seek help. Despite the evidence that many deaths are preventable, suicide is too 

often a low priority for governments and policy-makers 4 

The global evidence indicates that suicide is preventable, and that, in particular, the following actions are 

effective: 

 Restricting access to the means of suicide 

 Ensuring that health care services have suicide prevention as a core element of provision  

 Recognising the impact that communities can have in preventing suicide including on fighting 

stigma and supporting those at risk of suicide, or bereaved by suicide  

3.2. National Policy Drivers  

3.2.1. Preventing suicide in England and the second annual update5 

The 2012 national strategy referenced above outlined the national approach to preventing suicide and 

highlighted six areas for action.  These are the basis for this local strategy.  The second annual report, 

published in 2015, highlighted some key areas of good practice and addressed the recent national increase 

in suicide rates.  This report explicitly linked the global financial crisis of 2008 to this increase in England, as 

well as other countries.  Nationally, there was an increase of 214 suicide deaths from 2012 to 2013 (a total 

of 4,727 suicides compared to 4,513). This increase in recent years is following a trend of decreasing suicide 

rates from 1998-2011.   

Key emerging issues from the second annual update include:  

 The number of deaths from helium suicide is five times higher in 2013 than in 2008 which again 

raises issues regarding the need for sensitive reporting of suicide and suicidal methods  

 A recent increase in suicides and reported self-harm incidents in prisons.  This includes a clear 

association between self-harm and subsequent suicide in prisons.   

 The influence of social media both as a potential protective and negative influence. Social media 

can be accessed by individuals for coping strategies and support but it can also be a means of 

normalising self-harm amongst other risk factors.  

 Continuing issues regarding people receiving mental health services including treatment in the 

community.   

 The need for good management of self-harm, as suicide risk is raised 49-fold in the year after self-

harm.  This risk is higher with increasing age at the start of self-harm.    

                                                           
4
 World Health Organisation (2014) Preventing suicide: a global imperative p.2  

5
 HM Government and Department of Health (2012) Preventing Suicide in England: A cross-government outcomes 

strategy to save lives; London 
HM Government  and Department of Health (2015) Preventing Suicide in England: Two years on Second annual report 
on the cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives; London 

Page 19



 

 

 A higher than expected rate of alcohol related death following emergency department attendance 

with self-harm.  

This annual report identifies three main elements to implementing the strategy in local areas:  

 A suicide audit which collects information regarding suicides in order to understand local factors 

 Development of a suicide prevention action plan  

 Establishment of a multiagency suicide prevention group 

3.2.2. Chief Medical Officers Report on Public Mental Health6  

The 2013 Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer focused on Public Mental Health and had a chapter 

focusing on suicide and self-harm.  This provided a clear picture of suicide and self-harm in the England.  

The key statistics include:  

 Suicide rates were at their lowest recorded level in 2006/7 but have increased slightly recently  

 Approximately 28% of people who die by suicide have been in contact with mental health services 

in the past year, and for half of those, the last contact was in the last week 

 High risk groups for suicide include men aged 35-54 years and people who have self-harmed, have 

depression, misuse alcohol, are facing economic difficulties, going through divorce or separation, or 

have long time physical illness  

 6-10% of adolescents report having self-harmed in the past year but only 1 in 8 of these report 

having attended clinical services 

 Hanging is the most common method of suicide.  The use of which is increasing in both genders.   

3.2.3. Samaritans: Men, Suicide and Self-Harm  

The Samaritans’ report into men and suicide aims to explain why 35-54 year old men of low socio-economic 

position are more likely to commit suicide.  This report looks to use social science research to explore 

cultural and social reasons behind this trend.  The key message is:  

“suicide needs to be addressed as a health and gender inequality – an avoidable 

difference in health and length of life that results from being poor and 

disadvantaged; and an issue that affects men more because of the way society 

expects them to behave”7 

Arising from the report, the Samaritans make recommendations for consideration nationally 

and locally: 

 Address the issues of gender and socio-economic inequalities in suicide risk. 

 Ensure that men’s views on what it is to be a man are included in suicide prevention approaches. 

 Consider the importance of loneliness for men in mid-life and recognise it as a very significant 

cause of their high risk of suicide. 

 Link alcohol reduction with suicide prevention. 

 Support GPs to recognise signs of distress in men. 

 Provide leadership and accountability at local level. 

                                                           
6
 Hawton K, Gunnell D and Kapur N (2014) Chapter 15 Suicide and self-harm in Davies, S.C. “Annual Report of the Chief 

Medical Officer 2013, Public Mental Health Priorities: Investing in the Evidence” London: Department of Health (2014) 
p239 - 250 
7
 Samaritans (2012) Men, Suicide and Society, p. 1 

Page 20



 

 

3.2.4. Confidential Enquiry into Mental Health  

The 2015 National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental Illness Annual 

Report reports on findings from 2003 – 2013 and highlights  

Patient suicides are defined as those that occur within 12 months of mental health service contact 

This work found that:  

 The numbers of suicides have risen in the UK recently including a rise in the numbers of patient 

suicide.  This is linked to an increase in the number of patients overall.  In 2003 27% of all suicides 

were in patients, and by 2013 that proportion was 30%.  

 The report identified potential risk factors for this increase to be: alcohol misuse, and economic 

pressures and unemployment.   

 The rise in patient suicide numbers for men appears to be higher than the rise in men in the 

general population.  Therefore this should be a priority for suicide prevention.   

 In England there are now three times as many suicides in crisis resolution/home treatment care as 

compared to inpatient care.  This could be due to a lack of inpatient availability.   

 Staff reported that they felt that involving the family more could have helped reduce risk in 14% of 

patient suicides.  

3.2.5. Mental Health Taskforce: The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health  

In February 2016 the independent Mental Health Taskforce to the NHS in England published their Five Year 

Forward View for Mental Health8.  This independent report was commissioned by the NHS to set out how 

to transform the approach for mental health in the UK.  The report sets out recommendations for the NHS, 

the NHS arms’ length bodies and wider public services.  

Key messages that relate to suicide prevention in the report include:  

 improving care through prevention, which spans national and local government including 

supporting children and young people, employment in adults, and creating mentally healthy 

communities; 

 the expansion of mental health care such as seven day access in a crisis.  The report argues that a 7 

day crisis response service would contribute to the efforts to reduce suicide; 

 a focus on integrated physical and mental health care;   

 To reduce suicides by 10% by 2020 all areas should have multi-agency suicide prevention plans in 

place by 2017 that are reviewed annually.  There should be a focus on primary care, alcohol and 

drug misuse as well as focusing on high risk locations and high risk groups.   

 the need for additional investment in order to meet the challenges of reform. 

The report recommends eight principles to guide reform:  

1. Decisions must be locally led 

2. Care must be based on the best available evidence 

3. Services must be designed in partnership with people who have mental health problems and with 

carers 

4. Inequalities must be reduced to ensure that all needs are met, across all ages 

5. Care must be integrated – spanning people’s physical, mental and social needs 

                                                           
8
 Mental Health Taskforce (2016) The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health  

Page 21



 

 

6. Prevention and early intervention must be prioritised 

7. Care must be safe, effective and personal, and delivered in the least restrictive setting 

8. The right data must be collected and used to drive and evaluate progress 

3.3. Local Policy Drivers  

3.3.1. Rochdale Borough Mental Health and Wellbeing Commissioning Strategy 2014-

2017 

A full mental health needs assessment was carried out for Rochdale Borough in 2014 and one of the 

recommendations arising from this work was to continue to develop action to prevent self-harm and 

suicide for children, young people, men and women.   

Rochdale Borough Mental Health and Wellbeing Commissioning Strategy 2014-2017 was developed by 

Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group  and Rochdale Borough Council.  This sets 

out the priorities locally in order to improve mental health within the borough.  These were co-produced 

with service users, carers and key stakeholders.   

The Strategy clearly references suicide under Aim 5: Fewer people will experience avoidable harm.  This 

aim includes the objective:  

“We will aim to reduce the number of suicides within the Borough through suicide 

awareness campaigns and training”  

This suicide prevention strategy contributes to the actions occurring locally to achieve this aim.   

3.3.2. Rochdale Health and Wellbeing Strategy  

In 2015, Rochdale is developing a new Health and Wellbeing Strategy to build on the success of the 2012-

2015 strategy.  The mission statement for the strategic direction of the 2012-15 work is:  

“Co-operating in Rochdale for Better Health & Wellbeing” 

This is supported by three vision statements which outline clear principles as to how to achieve this:  

1. By 2021, we aim to achieve greater health and wellbeing equality between our most and least 

deprived communities, with a focus on tackling our priority health and wellbeing outcomes. 

2. We will work in partnership to maximise the assets and resources that we have in the Borough to 

achieve the best possible outcomes for our population. 

3. People and communities will have high aspirations for their own health and wellbeing outcomes 

and will feel in control of and able to manage their own conditions. 

The second Rochdale JSNA consultation was carried out in 2015.  The Health and Wellbeing Board have 

currently identified the following five priority areas to inform the next Health and Wellbeing Strategy:  

1. Children & Young People – Giving Every Child the Best Start in Life 

2. Prevention and Early Intervention 

3. Tackling Health Inequalities 

4. Wellbeing 

5. Healthier Lifestyles 

Suicide prevention contributes to many of these priority areas in particular Prevention and Early 

Intervention, Tackling Health Inequalities and Wellbeing.    
Page 22



 

 

4. Local Picture  
As previously stated, statistics on suicide are normally measured using the information provided at death 

registration. It includes those deaths where the coroner’s verdict is suicide and also open verdicts, which 

research suggests the majority of which are likely to be suicides. Age standardised rates are calculated 

using the European Standard Population, which takes into account the differing age structures over time 

and in different areas, allowing meaningful comparisons to be made. 3 year averages are used in order to 

minimise the fluctuations in rates caused by low annual numbers of deaths. 

Mortality rates from suicide and injury undetermined in Rochdale currently stand at 15.4 per 100,000 for 

males and 9.9 overall (PHE/PHOF 2011-13). The rate for females is not published for data disclosure 

reasons as the number of recorded deaths is very low. There are on average 20 deaths each year in 

Rochdale and small differences in this total have a significant effect on the rate. The chart below shows the 

trend since 2001. 

The rate of suicide in Rochdale was particularly low for 2006/2008 and since then the rate has increased.  

This is of concern locally.   

 

4.1. Gender 

In terms of gender, male deaths account for nearly three quarters of the total numbers over recent years: 

between 2004 and 2013 there were 148 male deaths (75.5%) and 48 female deaths (24.5%) in Rochdale. In 

England between 2004 and 2013 there were 33,068 male deaths (75.6%) and 10,648 female deaths 

(24.4%). The chart below illustrates the disparity between the sexes for Rochdale. 

 

 

10.4 
10.6 

10.8 

9.5 
8.6 

8.2 8.8 

9.5 

10.3 
10.1 

9.9 10.0 
9.6 9.7 

9.7 

9.6 
9.3 

9.5 9.4 
9.7 9.6 

10.1 

9.2 9.1 9.0 
8.8 

8.4 
8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.5 

8.8 

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

10.0

11.0

12.0

2001-03 2002-04 2003-05 2004-06 2005-07 2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12 2011-13

R
at

e
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

 

Age Standardised Death Rate for Suicide and Injury Undetermined - 
Rochdale Borough Persons All Ages 

Rochdale North West England
Source of Data: PHE/PHOF 

Page 23



 

 

 

The mortality rate for males has risen slightly over the last 5 years, averaging around 15 deaths per year. 

This mirrors the trend across the North West and England. 

 

In contrast, the rate for females has been somewhat volatile over the past few years, reaching a peak in 

2003-05, although this increase can be explained by a number of “injury undetermined” deaths in a single 

incident which had the effect of raising the mortality rates significantly. The rate then fell steadily for 3 

years before rising again up to 2009-11. The numbers of deaths are normally less than 5 per year, meaning 

that rates will fluctuate markedly even with 3 year averages. Given the low numbers for both males and 

75.5% 

24.5% 

Deaths from Suicide and Injury Undetermined by 
Sex 2004 to 2013 

Male

Female

Source of Data: Primary Care Mortality Database 

15.5 

14.6 
14.8 

13.9 13.8 
13.5 

14.4 
14.8 

15.5 

14.7 

15.4 15.3 
14.6 

15.1 
15.3 15.3 

14.8 
15.2 

15.0 
15.4 

15.4 

16.3 

14.2 
13.9 13.8 

13.5 

13.0 12.9 13.0 13.1 13.2 13.3 

13.8 

8.0

9.0

10.0

11.0

12.0

13.0

14.0

15.0

16.0

17.0

2001-03 2002-04 2003-05 2004-06 2005-07 2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12 2011-13

R
at

e
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

 

Age Standardised Death Rate for Suicide and Injury Undetermined - 
Rochdale Borough Males All Ages 

Rochdale North West England
Source of Data: PHE/PHOF 

Page 24



 

 

females, the rates are not considered to be statistically significant and the rate for females is no longer 

published due to the very low numbers.  

4.2. Age  

When looking at the age distribution of suicides, it is important to remember that suicide affects all ages, 

however for both males and females the greatest numbers are found in the 40 to 49 age group. This 

reflects the pattern for England as a whole.  

 

4.3. Ethnicity  

It is estimated that 5.4% of all suicides between 2005 and 2011 occurred in the BME population. This is 

much lower than the current estimated BME population for Rochdale as a whole, which currently stands at 

14% (Source: ONS).   

4.4. Methods  

The following charts illustrate the most common methods of committing suicide, with hanging accounting 

for exactly half of all deaths. There is however, a significant difference between the sexes, with 59% of 

males choosing hanging, but only 35% of females; 41% of females choose poisoning as opposed to just 20% 

of males. Fire and smoke, sharp objects and falling from a high place also show significant numbers, 

although many fire deaths are of undetermined intent.   

National information indicates a recent increase in the proportion of men and women committing suicide 

by hanging.  The numbers in Rochdale Borough are too small to be able to identify if this is an issue locally.   

 

7 

24 

35 

42 

27 

10 
8 

4 5 6 

18 

8 
5 4 

11 

29 

41 

60 

35 

15 
12 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

0 to 19 20 to 29 30 to 39 40 to 49 50 to 59 60 to 69 70 and Over

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

D
e

at
h

s 

Age Profile for Deaths from Suicide and Injury Undetermined 2004 
to 2013 

Male Female Persons

Page 25



 

 

 

 

 

 

20% 

59% 

1% 

2% 

2% 5% 

2% 
2% 

7% 

Methods of Committing Suicide in Rochdale Borough 2004 to 2013 
- Males 

Poisoning

Hanging

Firearm

Fire and Smoke

Sharp Object

Fall from High Place

Drowning

Contact with Moving Object

Other

Source of Data: Primary Care Mortality Database 

41% 

35% 

0% 

10% 

5% 

5% 

0% 0% 

5% 

Methods of Committing Suicide in Rochdale Borough 2004 to 
2013 - Females 

Poisoning

Hanging

Firearm

Fire and Smoke

Sharp Object

Fall from High Place

Drowning

Contact with Moving Object

Other

Source of Data: Primary Care Mortality Database 

Page 26



 

 

4.5. Social Grade  

When we look at Social “Class” or “Grade”, it is evident that, when compared with the average for Rochdale 

as a whole, there are fewer suicides in the Professional and Managerial categories, whilst there are more in 

those classed in the Skilled/Semi Skilled Manual and Unskilled categories. Whilst figures appear low for the 

Unemployed and those on benefits, it is likely that the “Not Stated” category includes many jobless people. 

Bearing this in mind, 38.8% of all suicides would fall into this category, compared to comprising 17.6% of 

the population as a whole. 

 

4.6. Deprivation  

Deprivation is known to be a contributory factor in suicide. The following chart shows the age standardised 

mortality rates for deprivation quintiles in Rochdale (based on the postcode of the deceased and the 

Indices of Deprivation 2010 for the Lower Super Output Area each postcode sits within). The rate for the 

most deprived area (Quintile 1) is higher, however the numbers are small, based over a 3 year period 

therefore the rates are not considered to be statistically significant. 

2.9% 

13.5% 

18.8% 

25.9% 

4.1% 

34.7% 

17.4% 

26.7% 

16.1% 

22.2% 

17.6% 

0.0% 
0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

Social Grade of Suicide and Injury Undetermined Deaths 2005 to 
2013 

Rochdale Suicides Rochdale PopulationSource of Data: Primary Care Mortality Database 

Page 27



 

 

 

4.7. Self-harm 

The risk of suicide after deliberate self-harm varies between 0.24% and 4.30%. Our knowledge of risk 
factors is limited and can be used only as an adjunct to careful clinical assessment when making decisions 
about after care. However, the following factors seem to indicate a risk: being an older teenage boy; violent 
method of self-harm; multiple previous episodes of self-harm; apathy, hopelessness, and insomnia; 
substance misuse; and previous admission to a psychiatric hospital (Hawton, K., 2005).  
 
The chart below is taken from the Rochdale Health Profile 2014 and illustrates the rates of admissions for 
self- harm for local authorities in Greater Manchester. Rochdale has the 4th highest rate in GM but is below 
the North West average. 
 

11.8 

10.1 

8.2 

10.5 

8.8 

9.9 10.1 

8.8 

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

Quintile 1 Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 5 Rochdale North West England

R
at

e
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

 
ASDR for Suicide and Injury Undetermined by Deprivation 

Quintile 2011 to 13 

High Deprivation --------------------------------------------------------------> Low Deprivation 

Source of Data: Primary Care Mortality Database 

Page 28



 

 

 

The Child Health Profile for Rochdale 2014 provides the same figures for the 10 to 24 age group, which 

have significantly higher rates of self-harm than the population as a whole. Rochdale is again the 4th highest 

in Greater Manchester yet below the North West average. 

 

 

The Centre for Public Health at Liverpool John Moores University has published a report on attendance at 

emergency department for self-harm.  It can be accessed at http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-

370.62

306.70
296.68

245.29 242.34
236.47

212.14
204.85 201.28 196.71

187.96
181.03

.00

50.00

100.00

150.00

200.00

250.00

300.00

350.00

400.00
A

SD
R

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0

Age Standardised Hospital Admissions for Self Harm 2012/13

Source of Data: Health Profiles 2014 (PHE)

577.6

543.7

502.4

433.0
422.5 419.7

382.3
368.7

354.4 346.3 346.1

315.4

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

A
SD

R
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Age Standardised Hospital Admissions for Self Harm (Ages 10 to 24) 2012/13

Source of Data: Child Health Profiles 2014 (PHE)

Page 29

http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/TIIG-Greater-Manchester-Themed-Report-DSH.pdf


 

 

content/uploads/2015/04/TIIG-Greater-Manchester-Themed-Report-DSH.pdf.  The study uses a broad 

definition of self-harm in that it includes ‘injury undetermined’ (ICD10 codes Y10 to Y34).  By this measure, 

Rochdale is 5th highest in Greater Manchester for self-harm admissions.   

 

  

Page 30

http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/TIIG-Greater-Manchester-Themed-Report-DSH.pdf


 

 

5. Local suicide prevention priorities  
 

 Area for action 1: Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups including:  

o men aged 35-54 years  

o people who have self-harmed,  

o mental health services (have depression) 

o drugs and alcohol (misuse alcohol)  

o facing economic difficulties, going through divorce or separation,  

o have long time physical illness,  

 Area for action 2: Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups  

 Area for action 3: Reduce access to the means of suicide  

 Area for action 4: Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by a 

suicide  

 Area for action 5: Support the media in delivering sensible and sensitive approaches to suicide and 

suicidal behaviour  

 Area for action 6: Support research, data collection and monitoring.  

 Area for action 7: To promote wellbeing and increase resilience through the five ways to wellbeing

  

  

Page 31



 

 

6. Governance  
Rochdale Borough has a multi-agency Suicide Prevention Group which is line with national guidance9.  This 

group is currently chaired by the Chief Executive of Mind (Rochdale and district) and meets quarterly.  

Members include representatives from public health, Greater Manchester Police, Drug and Alcohol Team, 

Pennine Care Foundation Trust, and the voluntary and community sector including Survivors of 

Bereavement By Suicide (SOBS), LGBT Foundation and Groundworks.   

The strategy will be monitored through the Suicide Prevention Group and will be accountable to the Health 

and Wellbeing Board via the Mental Health and Wellbeing Board.  The group will develop a clear action 

plan to implement this strategy and suicide prevention and self-harm will be included in the six monthly 

board reports prepared by the Mental Health and Wellbeing Board.   

 

 

 

In addition to the local structures, there is a programme of work at Greater Manchester level.    

 

                                                           
9
 Department of Health (2011) Prompts for local leaders on suicide prevention 

Suicide Prevention 

Group 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

Mental Health and Wellbeing 

Board 

Page 32


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Minutes - Health and Wellbeing Board
	3 Minutes -  Shadow Integrated Commissioning Board
	Minutes , 12/07/2016 Shadow Integrated Commissioning Board
	Minutes , 09/08/2016 Shadow Integrated Commissioning Board

	5 Rochdale Suicide and Self Harm Prevention Strategy
	Suicide prevention and self harm strategy 2016 Final Draft


